Note. This publication is the electronic version of <u>The tobacco health toll</u> published by WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. This version contains the full list of references omitted from the original printed version.

# The tobacco health toll



World Health Organization Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean Cairo, 2005

### WHO Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean
The tobacco health toll / WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean.

I. Tobacco 2. Smoking 3. Smoking and Health I. Title ISBN: 978–92–9021–443–4 (NLM Classification: WM 290)

The tobacco health toll

© World Health Organization 2005

All rights reserved.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

The World Health Organization does not warrant that the information contained in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use.

The named author alone is responsible for the views expressed in this publication.

Publications of the World Health Organization can be obtained from Distribution and Sales, World Health Organization, Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean, PO Box 7608, Nasr City, Cairo 11371, Egypt (tel: +202 670 2535; fax: +202 670 2492; email: DSA@emro.who.int). Requests for permission to reproduce WHO EMRO publications, in part or in whole, or to translate them—whether for sale or for noncommercial distribution—should be addressed to the Regional Adviser, Health and Biomedical Information, at the above address (fax: +202 276 5400; email HBI@emro.who.int).

# **CONTENTS**

Acknowledgements	4
Introduction	
Effects on the body	
Addiction and psychological effects	7
The lungs	8
The heart	9
The major blood vessels	9
The peripheral blood vessels	10
The nervous system	
Osteoporosis and skeletal health	10
Male reproductive health	
The digestive system	
Cancer	
Oral and dental health	
Skin and hair	
Smoking and the senses	13
Smoking and general health	15
Smoking and surgical outcomes	
Smoking and the immune system	
Smoking and diabetes	
Smoking and tuberculosis	
Smoking and autoimmune disorders	
Systemic lupus erythematosus	
Smoking and venous thrombosis	
Smoking and sleep	16
Women and smoking	17
General health	
Female reproductive health	
Smoking and oral contraceptives	
Smoking and pregnancy	
The course and outcome of pregnancy	
Smoking and lactation	
Smoking and infant and child development	20
Adverse effects of prenatal tobacco exposure	
Smoking and children's health	
Environmental tobacco smoke	22
Smoking prevention and cessation.	
References	25

# Acknowledgements

The Tobacco Free Initiative, Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean would especially like to thank Dr Mohamed Kamal Helmi for writing this publication.

The Regional Office would also like to thank the Audiovisual Library of the European Commission and Health Canada for their kind permission to use illustrative material.

# Introduction

With the increasing realization of the devastating effects tobacco use has, and the heavy toll it exacts on the health of individuals, the health of the young, the well-being of families and societies, and the economies of countries, the need for a clear, comprehensive document covering the full range of the negative effects tobacco and its use has on human health was apparent. This publication sums up and simplifies the answers to the questions that the public, individuals and special groups have, and is intended to fill the wide but often underestimated gap in the public's knowledge concerning the vast spectrum of tobacco-related health hazards. It is expected therefore, that this publication will be of interest to people from all walks of life, including school and university students, physicians and nurses, as well as the public in general.

Tobacco and tobacco smoke contain thousands of chemicals. Many of these chemicals are well known to be toxic, carcinogenic, atherogenic, teratogenic and addictive; many have no known safe level of exposure. The chemicals found in tobacco and tobacco smoke include nicotine, tar, carbon monoxide, acetaldehyde, hydrogen cyanides, arsenic, chromium, DDT, formaldehyde, benzene, N-nitrosamines, cadmium, nickel, beryllium and vinyl chloride.

Globally, one person dies from tobacco use every 6.5 seconds; tobacco kills around 5 million smokers each year, or the equivalent of 13 699 people per day. This is in addition to the suffering caused through tobacco-related diseases and the burden of disease on individuals, families and society as a whole.

Studies have shown that people who start smoking in their teens (as more than 70% do), and continue to do so for two decades or more will die 20–25 years earlier than those who have never smoked, thus losing some of the most productive years of their lives. Lung cancer and heart disease are two of the most common health problems encountered by smokers, but the general public is largely unaware that there are a wide range of other diseases and ill-effects associated with tobacco use which are not as widely publicized. This publication lists the range of diseases and illnesses caused through smoking, and shows how the harmful effects of smoking can damage nearly every organ and system in the human body.

Women and smoking deserve special attention as a result of the negative and serious health impacts on smoking women and their offspring, in addition to particular health concerns related to the use of contraceptives and women's frequent involuntary exposure to environmental tobacco smoke.

Children, who represent the building blocks of the future, are a large and significant segment of the population who are involuntarily exposed to the harm that tobacco can cause. Society needs to acknowledge the harm that environmental tobacco smoke exposure causes to the health of children and exert efforts to protect them from

exposure to this smoke. The importance of cessation and reduced exposure to tobacco smoke cannot be overemphasized. Adults need to abstain from tobacco use, not only to protect themselves, but to protect the young and future generations from falling prey to deadly tobacco-related diseases. It is also important to raise public awareness of the fact that modifications made to the shape, intensity and flavour of tobacco products is just the tobacco industry's way of masking the truth about the deadly effects of tobacco use. The issue of environmental tobacco smoke has been an arena of intense struggle between health advocates and the tobacco industry as it affects smokers and non-smokers alike, but also because it addresses more directly the question of choice when faced with the health hazards caused through tobacco. This issue has the greatest potential to shape the outcome of tobacco control efforts.

**Important note**. For the sake of readability, the references to studies and evidence of the harm caused by tobacco use have been omitted from the printed version of this publication. Students, physicians and members of the general public who wish to read further on the subject may consult the on-line version and its list of references at www.emro.who.int/tfi/InPrint.htm.

# Effects on the body

### Addiction and psychological effects

Cigarettes and other forms of tobacco are addictive. Nicotine is the drug in tobacco that causes addiction; and it is also a psychoactive (mood altering) drug [1]. Nicotine is a euphoriant and its withdrawal symptoms can include irritability, difficulty in concentrating, cognitive impairment, anxiety and weight gain [2].

The pharmacological and behavioural processes that determine tobacco addiction are similar to those that determine addiction to other drugs, such as heroin and cocaine [1]. Environmental factors and social pressures are important in the initiation of tobacco use, patterns of its use, stopping smoking and resumption of its use after stopping [1].

The problem of addiction to tobacco and nicotine is extremely serious as the symptoms of tobacco dependence can develop rapidly, in some cases, within just a few days, in others within a few weeks, and with minimum consumption. The development of even a single symptom of dependence strongly predicts the continued use of tobacco [3].

In one study, nicotine was found to be more addictive than other drugs surveyed [4]. Experimentally, volunteer smokers who received intravenous nicotine reported effects similar to those produced by other drugs of abuse, such as morphine or cocaine [5]. Individuals with nicotine dependence had higher rates of depression and anxiety disorders when compared to individuals with dependencies on other substances [6].

The perception that smoking or nicotine alleviates stress is an erroneous perception, as nicotine, through its addictive and psychotropic effects, leads smokers to be in constant need for nicotine to feel 'normal', to reverse the tension and irritability that develop during nicotine depletion [7] and to relieve the anxiety resulting from nicotine withdrawal symptoms [8].

This chemical dependence can have other serious effects besides the actual addiction to nicotine and tobacco. For example, some brands of cigarettes are designed to contain or yield low nicotine levels. However, this leads many smokers to compensate for the low level nicotine by increasing the volume of smoke inhaled, leading to a two- to four-fold increase in their exposure to lung carcinogens. Thus, a much greater overall exposure results from smoking low nicotine cigarettes [9].

Smokers in one study increased the total number of cigarettes they smoked in response to smoking low nicotine yield cigarettes [10]. Smokers in another study also compensated by increasing their intake from each cigarette when cigarette smoke was diluted through the use of ventilated cigarette holders [11]. This belies the belief that low nicotine cigarettes are less harmful, or less addictive. It may also explain why the incidence of lung cancer and deaths from lung cancer have not declined despite the increasing trend for low tar and low nicotine cigarettes [9, 12].

Many individuals who are dependant on nicotine are able to give it up outside the context of a treatment programme. Others, however, require the assistance of a formal cessation

programme that may include behavioural and pharmacological interventions to achieve lasting abstinence [1].

### The lungs

Significantly increased incidences of lung cancer are reported for smokers, as an estimated 85%–90% of all cases of lung cancer are due to smoking. Smokers are between 20 and 30 times more likely to develop lung cancer compared to those who are not exposed to tobacco smoke [13].

Smoking causes a wide spectrum of respiratory and breathing-related diseases [12]. This includes airway diseases, such as chronic bronchitis and emphysema, where there is inflammation, narrowing and eventual destruction of the airways [14]. At least 80% of these cases are due to smoking [15]. These lung disorders cause progressive shortness of breath, frequent complicating illnesses, hospitalizations and severe disability, and require expensive treatments that do not reverse the course of the disease [16, 17]. Smoking leads to at least a twenty-fold increase in the risk of dying from a chronic obstructive lung disease [18]. The average lung function and lung capacity in smokers is consistently worse than in non-smokers, with up to double the rate of decline with age [19], even in smokers who do not develop chronic bronchitis or emphysema [19, 20].

People who are exposed to cigarette smoke earlier in their lives have a significantly increased chance of developing asthma [20, 21]. In people with asthma, tobacco smoke increases the rate of deterioration of the lungs' function and capacity, and over time worsens the condition and makes it more difficult to control. It leads to more frequent hospitalizations and emergency room visits [20, 22]. Smokers are also more likely to require mechanical ventilation (respirator) upon hospitalisation [23]. The risk of complications, such as lung infections, is significantly higher among smokers as compared to non-smokers [14].

In people who have already developed a chronic obstructive lung disease, such as chronic bronchitis or emphysema, stopping smoking results in a significant decrease in the frequency of hospitalisations [24], and slows the rate of deterioration of their lungs over time to near non-smokers' rates [17]. It also significantly improves their symptoms and shortness of breath [25]. Smokers suffer an increased risk of developing respiratory problems, along with other non-respiratory complications, leading to an increased risk of admission to intensive care following any surgery compared to non-smokers [22, 26].

Smoking is implicated as a major causative factor in a large variety of disorders that cause lung damage or fibrosis. Tobacco smoke is strongly believed to be an important factor in the development of a number of serious and fatal diseases that cause lung fibrosis for which there is no known effective medical treatment [14, 27, 28, 29].

Smokers are also at risk from a number of unusual lung diseases and disorders that affect only smokers, such as Langerhans cell histiocytosis, which currently has no known effective medical treatment [30, 31], and which may require lung transplantation. Other serious and unusual disorders cause lung bleeding, such as Goodpasture syndrome [14, 32].

#### The heart

Smoking is clearly implicated in the development of coronary heart disease (narrowing and occlusion of the blood vessels supplying the heart) [33, 34, 35], leading to chest pains, shortness of breath, heart attacks, hospitalizations, disability and death [36, 37]. The risk of developing coronary heart disease as a result of smoking is increased by up to three-fold in men and six-fold in women [34, 35]. This clearly indentified risk of developing a debilitating and deadly disease appears to be seriously unrecognized or underestimated by smokers [38]. The importance of stopping smoking for people who have suffered heart attacks cannot be overemphasized, as cessation cuts by almost half the recurrence rate of heart attacks [39], and the death rate of those who stop smoking after a heart attack [40].

Cigarette smoking is also an independent risk factor in the development of congestive heart failure [41], a condition that is caused by the heart's inability to function normally to meet the body's needs. It leads to weakness, fatigue, severe shortness of breath, frequent hospitalizations, and is associated with significantly short survival rates in patients afflicted with the condition [42, 43].

### The major blood vessels

Aortic artery

Smoking is a clearly recognized risk factor and contributing factor in the development of two very serious conditions: abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) [44, 45, 46] and thoracic aortic aneurysm (TAA) [47]. Abdominal aortic aneurysm is the dilation, usually progressive, of a segment of the aortic artery, the body's largest artery originating directly from the heart which supplies the whole body with blood. It is a deadly condition if the aortic artery aneurysm ruptures [48], as it leads to internal bleeding, shock and cardiac collapse. More than 75% of people affected with abdominal aortic aneurysm are smokers [44]. Following diagnosis of the condition, patients who continued to smoke had a significantly higher rate of rupture of their abdominal aortic aneurysm and a notably shorter survival after their diagnosis [49]. An accelerated rate of expansion (dilation) of the thoracic aortic aneurysm was also noted in patients with a history of smoking [50]. Smoking also increases the risk of paralysis in both legs after surgery performed to repair thoracic aortic aneurysm [51].

#### Carotid arteries

As with other arteries in the body, smoking affects the carotid arteries supplying blood to the brain and results in their narrowing (stenosis) and potential blockage [52, 53, 54]. This is a condition that increases the incidence of, and creates a predisposition to, even if initially without symptoms [55], different kinds of stroke [56, 57]. The complications following a stroke can include: paralysis, loss of speech, loss of sensation, blindness, disability and progressive dementia. Strokes may even lead to death [58].

After surgery to correct the narrowing of the carotid arteries and to reduce the chance of a stroke or the recurrence of a stroke, continued smoking was found to increase the chances of a recurrence of the narrowing of the carotid arteries [59].

### The peripheral blood vessels

Smoking is a major contributing factor in the development of atherosclerotic peripheral arterial diseases [60, 61], which is the roughening and narrowing of the arteries supplying the limbs. Atherosclerotic peripheral arterial diseases most commonly affect the lower extremities, with the potential to cause serious limitations in the ability to walk and to perform daily activities, to cause pain in the affected limb [60], and to create the potential for limb gangrene and the possible need for amputation [60]. Patients with peripheral arterial disease are at a very high risk of developing serious and life-threatening illnesses, such as heart attacks and strokes [61].

Treatment recommendations consistently stress smoking cessation as a first line therapy [62]. Another serious form of peripheral arterial disease in which smoking is central to the initiation and progression of the disease is thromboangitis obliterans or Buerger disease. It is strongly associated with heavy smoking and has a relatively early age of onset, at about 34 years of age [63]. This condition causes severe, progressive pain in the affected limb(s), ulcerations, gangrene, frequent amputations [63, 64] and recurrent hospitalizations [53], and for the majority of patients ends their working lives [63]. The only proven strategy to prevent progression of the disease and avoid amputation is the complete discontinuation of cigarette smoking or other use of tobacco [64]. The rate of limb amputations in patients who continued to smoke after their diagnosis has been shown to be double that of patients who stopped smoking [63, 64].

### The nervous system

Smoking also increases the risk of different types of dementia, and as smoking is recognized as a risk factor for cognitive decline [65] and vascular dementia [65, 66], smoking cessation is considered essential in the management of dementia resulting from vascular diseases [66].

Smoking-associated cognitive impairment and decline can begin as early as middle age, between the ages of 43 and 53 years [67]. Smoking has also been found to increase the risk of developing Alzheimer disease, while smokers who quit have a reduced risk of developing the disease [68].

### Osteoporosis and skeletal health

Osteoporosis is a serious medical condition that leads to a significantly increased rate of bone fractures, particularly vertebral (spinal) and hip fractures, in addition to well known complications, such as functional decline, chronic pain, psychological dysfunction and early mortality [69]. Another confounding factor may be the surgical and post-surgical complications that can result from surgical treatment of these fractures [70].

Smoking has been strongly identified as a significant risk factor to the development and acceleration of osteoporosis in both men [71] and women [72], although women are clearly disproportionately affected by osteoporosis. The vast majority of osteoporotic fractures occur in elderly women. These comprise vertebral compression fractures, Colle's fractures at the wrist, hip fracture and to a lesser extent fractures at other sites [74]. Smoking has also been found to be significantly associated with repeat bone fractures in menopausal women [75].

Evidence seems to support the fact that use of smokeless tobacco may also cause osteoporosis [76].

Tobacco avoidance has been recommended as a first line preventive measure against further bone loss and progression of osteoporosis [77, 78]. Smoking has been associated with severe spinal column degenerative diseases and with greater susceptibility to traumatic vertebral injury [79]. Certain spinal surgical procedures are less often successful in smokers compared to non-smokers [79]. Smoking also increases the risk of impaired bone healing after surgery [80] and leads to a lower rate of bone healing with more complications after treatment for fractures [70].

# Male reproductive health

### **Fertility**

There is significant scientific evidence that smoking leads to a decreased sperm count, an increased frequency of abnormal sperm morphology [81], and an inferior quality of sperm in smokers compared with non-smokers [82]. Smoking by men was also associated with delayed conception and reduced fertility rates [83].

### *Impotence*

The scientific and medical evidence that smoking is a significant risk factor for impotence is strong [84, 85, 86, 87]. Smokers are one and a half times more likely to suffer erectile dysfunction than non-smokers [86]. One study found that up to 81% of the study patients suffering from impotence were current or former smokers [87].

#### The digestive system

In addition to the use of tobacco being a contributory factor in the development of many digestive system cancers, it is also a major contributing factor to other diseases of the digestive system.

### Peptic ulcers

Smoking has been found to be the main factor in the development of peptic ulcers, both gastric and duodenal [88], a disorder that, in addition to causing pain, can lead to fatal bleeding or perforation of the stomach or duodenum into the abdomen. Continued smoking has also been found to lead to a negative effect on, and delayed healing of, duodenal peptic ulcers with a higher relapse rate [89].

### Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease

Studies have found that smoking is associated with increased stomach acid reflux into the oesophagus [90], and that smoking is a risk factor in the development of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease [91]. Gastro-oesophageal reflux has also been found to be a risk factor for the development of laryngeal and pharyngeal cancer, independent of the effect of smoking on the development of such cancers [92].

#### Cancer

The relationship between tobacco use and cancer cannot be overstated. Smoking is the direct cause of a significant number of cancers and a contributing factor to many other cancers. No other single product is known to do this.

# Lung cancer

Lung cancer deserves special attention as it is the leading cause of cancer mortality worldwide [93]; an estimated 85%–90% of all cases of lung cancer are due to smoking [13]. Some studies have suggested that women may be at a higher risk than men of developing lung cancer due to smoking [94, 95].

Epidemiological studies have shown that brands of cigarettes that contain less tar and nicotine only marginally reduce the risk of lung cancer mortality. Similarly, little difference in mortality has been found for lifelong filter versus non-filter smokers and for persistent smokers who switch from non-filter to filter cigarettes [12].

The risk of lung cancer declines steadily in people who stop smoking, until, after 10 years, the risk becomes 30%–50% of that in continuing smokers [12].

#### Other cancers

Tobacco use has been firmly linked to the risk of developing the following cancers: laryngeal cancer; oesophageal cancer; urinary bladder cancer; pancreatic cancer; kidney cancer; oral cavity and pharyngeal cancer; and stomach cancer [14, 96, 97]. Oral cavity cancer has been linked to both smoking and smokeless tobacco use [98].

Tobacco use has also been linked to the risk of developing colorectal cancer, liver cancer, cervical cancer, nasal sinuses cancer, and leukaemia [96, 97]. It has also been found to be an independent risk factor in the development of a type of skin cancer called squamous cell carcinoma [99].

Long-term and short-term smoking has been found to be associated with a two-fold increase in the risk of certain types of ovarian cancers [100], and is a major risk factor in the development of uterine cervical cancer [101]. Several studies and reports suggest that both passive and active tobacco smoke exposure cause an increased risk of breast cancer [102, 103]. There appears to be an association between cigarette smoking and a significantly higher risk of developing pulmonary metastatic disease (cancer spread to the lungs) among women with breast cancer. This may explain the noted higher breast cancer fatality rate among smokers [104]. Tobacco users, including light users, have also been found to be at a higher risk for the spread of other types of cancer [105].

Smoking cessation reduces the risk of many tobacco-related malignancies, including cancers of the larynx, oesophagus, pancreas and urinary bladder [12].

### Oral and dental health

For both men and women, cancer of the mouth and pharynx ranks sixth overall in the world; although it is the third most common cancer among men in many countries [98]. Tobacco use, through both smoking and smokeless tobacco, is a major risk factor for oral cancer and precancerous conditions [98, 106, 107].

It is also a significant risk factor in the development of a very wide spectrum of oral and dental diseases, and pathological conditions and lesions. These include mucosal lesion, such as smoker's melanosis (which is the abnormal dark pigmentation of the oral mucosa), keratotic patches, nicotinic stomatitis, leukoplakia, palatal erosions and black hairy tongue [107, 108].

Tobacco use is associated with tooth staining, abrasions, dental carries and tooth decay. It is also associated with increased prevalence of periodontal and gingival disorders, including periodontitis, acute necrotizing ulcerative gingivitis and weakened defence and repair ability of the gingival tissue [108, 109]. This is in addition to increased alveolar bone loss, increased pocket depth and a higher rate of implant failures [108, 109].

### Skin and hair

There is a strong link between smoking and squamous cell carcinoma. Smoking has been found to be an independent risk factor in its development of this skin cancer, the rate of its development being affected by the number of cigarettes smoked [99].

Other effects of smoking and tobacco use on the skin and hair are numerous, and include premature skin wrinkling and ageing, particularly of the facial skin, in men and women [110, 111, 112]. This effect increases with the number of cigarettes smoked [111]. A strong link is suggested between smoking and tendency to greyness [113], baldness and hair loss [113, 114].

Smoking is a clinically important contributing factor in increased incidence and severity of acne [115]. Smoking and tobacco use are also associated with a number of skin diseases, such as psoriasis [116], eczema [117] and palmo-plantar pustulosis [118, 119]. Palmo-plantar pustulosis is a common chronic skin disease that is very resistant to treatment, causing pustular lesions to develop on the palms and on the soles of the feet [120].

Smokers have also been found to be at a greater risk of complications involving the surgical site following certain types of facial surgery [121].

### **Smoking and the senses**

Vision

In some parts of the world, cigarette smoking is a major cause of untreatable visual impairment [122], and is significantly associated with cataract and glaucoma [123], Grave ophthalmopathy [124, 125] and age-related macular degeneration. Smoking is the only known preventable risk factor associated with any form of age-related macular degeneration [126, 127]. Continued smoking may perpetuate further ocular damage and lead to permanent blindness as a result [123].

### Hearing

Smoking is one of the main risk factors for hearing impairment and loss [128, 129]. It has been found that smokers are significantly more likely to suffer from hearing loss as a result of exposure to noise as compared to non-smokers [130].

# Smell

Smoking has been found to cause long-term deficits in olfaction (the ability to smell), with double the rate of these deficits evident in smokers compared with non-smokers. This deficit improves in smokers who stop smoking [131].

# **Smoking and general health**

### **Smoking and surgical outcomes**

The occurrence of problems relating to healing of surgical wounds have been found to be significantly higher in smokers than in non-smokers [132, 133], in addition to higher surgical wound infection rates overall [134]. The overall rate of complications in smokers after surgery has been shown to be significantly higher compared with that of non-smokers, including in-hospital death rates [135], admission to intensive care units and respiratory tract infections and complications [16, 22, 135].

### **Smoking and the immune system**

Cigarette smoke and nicotine have a suppressive effect on the immune system [24], which explains, in part, the number of increased respiratory tract infections [14] and increased rates of wound infections after surgery in smokers [134].

### **Smoking and diabetes**

Smokers are at an increased risk of developing type 2 diabetes, and patients with diabetes who are smokers are at an increased risk of diabetic nephropathy, retinopathy, neuropathy, coronary heart disease, stroke and peripheral vascular disease [136, 137], and experience a higher rate of related limb amputations [138].

### **Smoking and tuberculosis**

Smokers are at an increased risk of contracting active pulmonary tuberculosis [139, 140], and they also appear to develop more cases of extra-pulmonary tuberculosis [139]. This risk increases with the number of cigarettes smoked [140]. It has been suggested that exposure to environmental tobacco smoke increases children's risk of acquiring tuberculosis [139].

### **Smoking and autoimmune disorders**

Rheumatoid arthritis

Cigarette smoking appears to be an important risk factor in the development [141, 142] and the increased severity of rheumatoid arthritis [141].

### Thyroid gland

Smoking significantly increases the risk of developing Grave disease (a thyroid disorder where the thyroid gland is overactive) [124, 143], Grave ophthalmopathy (the eye disorder associated with Grave disease) [143], toxic nodular goitre [124] and Hashimoto thyroiditis (a thyroid gland autoimmune disorder) [143].

## Systemic lupus erythematosus

Cigarette smoking significantly increases the risk of developing systemic lupus erythematosus, an autoimmune disease that can affect almost any organ or system in the body causing a wide range of complications, including: kidney failure, heart and heart valve disorders, arthritis, brain disorders, skin disorders and lung disease, including fibrosis and respiratory failure [144].

## Smoking and venous thrombosis

Smoking is an important and an independent risk factor in the development of venous thromboembolism [145, 146], which is the development of blood clots in the veins and the lodging of some of these clots in the blood vessels of the lungs. It is a potentially fatal condition with serious long-term consequences in many patients, including disabling shortness of breath [147].

### **Smoking and sleep**

Smokers have been shown to be significantly more likely than non-smokers to suffer from difficulties in going to sleep, daytime sleepiness [148, 149], problems staying asleep and minor accidents [148]. Smoking has also been also associated with nightmares, disturbing dreams and difficulty in waking up [149].

# Women and smoking

#### General health

The impact of smoking on women's health deserves special attention, as women are susceptible to almost all of the tobacco health hazards that men are exposed to, in addition to a number of diseases, tumours and conditions that particularly affect women. Some studies have actually shown that women are at an even greater risk of developing certain diseases as a result of smoking than men. In a large study of women's health, death from all causes was found to be much higher (twice as high) among women who smoked; this was already apparent by the age of 35–44 years [20].

Women are threatened by a range of health problems associated with smoking which include cancer, cardiovascular and lung diseases, an increased risk of different types of dementia, fertility problems and osteoporosis.

Abstinence from smoking is important for the immediate and future health of women. Also, controlling the extent of women's involuntary exposure to second-hand smoke is critical as the number of women exposed to smoke released into the environment through burning cigarettes is far greater than the number of women who actually smoke [150].

### Female reproductive health

The scientific literature offers clear support for an association between smoking and decreased female fertility [151, 152]. Smoking also increases the rate of spontaneous abortion of chromosomally normal fetuses and increases the incidence of placental abruption, placenta praevia, bleeding during pregnancy, premature rupture of the membranes [152] and stillbirths [153], which further reduce women's reproductive capability. Evidence also suggests that women smokers reach menopause 1 to 2 years earlier than non-smokers [152].

All these risks to fertility and the outcome of pregnancy are minimized or absent in former smokers [151].

### **Smoking and oral contraceptives**

In women using the currently available form of oral contraceptives, the increased risk of cardiovascular diseases and heart attacks seems to occur mainly in women who smoke [154, 155, 156], with heavy smokers being at a greatly increased risk of a heart attack [157]. Every effort should be made to encourage smoking cessation among potential users of oral contraceptives [155]. Oral contraceptive users who do not smoke and have normal blood pressue (normotensive) have not been found to have an increased risk of heart attack [156].

Oral contraceptives may also increase the risk of stroke in women who smoke [156, 158], as studies have noted a correlation between smoking and oral contraceptives in causing cerebral thrombosis [159]. The risk of venous thrombosis and pulmonary embolism are increased in oral contraceptive users who are also smokers [160].

### **Smoking and pregnancy**

There is growing awareness of the harmful effects of smoking during pregnancy. Smoking, through exposure to substances like nicotine and carbon monoxide, is associated with a number of serious complications during pregnancy, including increased rates of spontaneous abortion [161], premature delivery [161, 162] and low birth weights [161]. Smoking during pregnancy has been associated with intrauterine growth retardation [162, 163]. Low birth weight has been shown to occur even with low levels of exposure [164], and smoking cigarettes with low tar or nicotine concentration does not reduce the risk of having babies who are small for the duration of the pregnancy [165]. Exposure of pregnant women to environmental tobacco smoke has been shown to be associated with low birth weight in the infants of exposed non-smoking mothers [12, 162], and to have an added negative effect on the infant's birth weight in smoking mothers [162].

Smoking during pregnancy also leads to an increased infant death rate around the time of birth (perinatal mortality) [166], up to one and a half times the average rate [162]. Maternal smoking is also thought to be associated with sudden infant death syndrome [162].

### The course and outcome of pregnancy

Smoking not only increases the risk of cervical and uterine cancer in women [101], but has also been shown to create fertility problems and complications during pregnancy and childbirth. Consequently, the harmful effects of smoking on the course and outcome of pregnancy cannot be overemphasized. There is much evidence to show that smoking complicates the course of pregnancy, endangers the life of the mother, threatens the life of the fetus, and places the newborn at great risk of immediate and long-term complications, and possibly even death.

Nicotine replacement therapy for pregnant smokers does not seem to be as effective as in non-smokers for a variety of reasons [172], which may include a faster rate of nicotine metabolism during pregnancy requiring a higher dose of nicotine replacement therapy [172, 173]. As nicotine replacement therapy has proven to be a somewhat challenging task during pregnancy, it is even more critical for women to abstain from smoking, for their own health and that of their children.

### **Smoking and lactation**

Tobacco by-products are transmitted in breast milk and may decrease breast milk production [167]. Smoking has been associated with a lower level of some vitamins, such as vitamin E [168] and vitamin C [169], in the mother's milk.

The degree of exposure of the breastfed infant to nicotine was found in one study to be related to the number of cigarettes smoked by the nursing mother [170]. Mothers who are smokers are significantly less likely to intend to breastfeed, less likely to initiate breastfeeding and more likely to breastfeed for a shorter duration than non-smokers [171]. Several studies have found a dose–response relationship between the number of cigarettes smoked each day and breastfeeding intention, initiation and duration that persists even after taking into account additional factors [171].

This leads to a significant number of infants of smoking mothers missing out on the well known benefits of breastfeeding, which only confounds the other health hazards these infants are exposed to as a result of their exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and pregnancy-related tobacco exposure.

# Smoking and infant and child development

# Adverse effects of prenatal tobacco exposure

Infants exposed to tobacco before birth are at an increased risk of low birth weight and death around the time of birth. Low-birth-weight babies are prone to a number of subsequent complications, such as recent epidemiological and experimental studies have also shown that abnormal fetal growth can lead to serious complications and disorders extending well beyond the neonatal period [166].

A number of birth defects and deformities are associated with smoking during pregnancy, such as cleft lip/palate [174, 175], clubfoot [175] and limb defects [176, 177]. Studies also support the conclusion that fetal exposure to environmental tobacco smoke in utero (during pregnancy) is associated with adverse effects on the infant's future pulmonary function, and creates a predisposition to asthma [178, 179], and possibly bronchial hyper-responsiveness in childhood [178]. Smoking during pregnancy and lactation has also been found to be linked to the development of eczema in children of smoking mothers [180].

Environmental tobacco smoke exposure is also associated with diminished attention span, which hinders the intellectual development of the child [181] and diminishes their intellectual abilities later in life [182]. It has been found to be associated with a decrease of up to 15 IQ points in some studies [181]. Epidemiological studies also suggest that prenatal tobacco exposure is associated with higher rates of behavioural problems, risk taking behaviour [167, 182] and failure at school [182].

Prenatal tobacco exposure has been shown to be significantly associated with deficits in learning and memory. Specifically, prenatal tobacco exposure has been associated with deficits in verbal learning and design memory, as well as slowed responses on a test of eye—hand coordination. In addition, exposed children demonstrated a reduced ability for flexible problem-solving and exhibited greater impulsivity [182].

#### Smoking and children's health

The risks to infants and children exposed to tobacco smoke begin during pregnancy, and include: increased incidence of sudden infant death syndrome [183]; childhood infections [184, 185, 186, 187]; middle ear infections and bronchitis [184, 188]; and a negative impact on their overall respiratory health and lung development [12, 184, 188]. It reduces their lung function and capacity [189], and their overall physical and cognitive (mental) development [12], and alters their intelligence and behaviour [167, 190]. It also leads to an increase in hospitalization rates [187]. Infants whose mothers did not smoke, but whose fathers did, are also at risk of reduced birth weight [191]. Environmental tobacco smoke exposure also increases children's risk of developing asthma and is responsible for causing a greater number of asthmatic attacks [184, 187].

Tobacco by-products are transmitted in breast milk and may decrease breast milk production [167]. For children breastfed by smoking mothers, the risk of developing lung cancer is significantly increased [185, 192]. Also, the risk of developing other cancers, such as nasal

and sinus cancer [193], brain tumours, leukaemia and lymphoma (blood and lymphatic system cancers) is also increased [192].

Another serious effect of parental smoking is the significantly increased likelihood that their children will become smokers themselves [194, 195], and therefore become subject to all the health hazards associated with tobacco use, in addition to the risk-taking behaviour in adolescents that is associated with smoking [167, 182]. Earlier age of initiation of smoking has been found to be predictive of more dependant smoking, less interest and confidence in the ability to quit, poorer diet, less use of seat belts, and more illness and hospitalization later in life [196].

In some countries, cigarette smoking is the foremost modifiable risk factor for adverse pregnancy outcomes [173]. Mothers who smoke voluntarily expose future generations to life-threatening and debilitating diseases. Smoking affects children's health directly, but also indirectly, through a diversion of the family's financial resources [197], which may expose them to malnutrition and hunger [197,198], inadequate medical care and education [198], adding to the health toll they already incur through being involuntarily exposed to tobacco smoke. This exposure also contributes to children's future smoking behaviour, and may create an addiction to nicotine long before they are capable of making an informed and an independent choice [194].

### **Environmental tobacco smoke**

In recent years there has been growing knowledge and awareness of the dangers and serious adverse health effects of environmental tobacco smoke exposure [199]. The health hazards of environmental tobacco smoke exposure affect almost every organ and system in the body with a wide spectrum of ailments and diseases, and it has been clearly implicated as the cause of death in many of those who were exposed to it [200]. Environmental tobacco smoke exposure acquires special importance when it comes to considering the negative health impact on children.

Environmental tobacco smoke has been scientifically implicated in causing a number of cancers, including lung [184, 185, 200–205], nasal and sinus cancers [193]. The Council on Scientific Affairs, American Medical Association, agrees that environmental tobacco smoke should be classified as a human carcinogen (a substance that causes cancer in humans) [185], and the Environmental Protection Agency has classified it as a Class A (known human) carcinogen [12].

It has been clearly shown that exposure to environmental tobacco smoke causes a significant increase in the risk of developing coronary heart disease [200, 201, 206] and an associated increase in deaths related to it [207, 208]. Coronary heart disease is a condition that leads to chest pains, shortness of breath and heart attack—an extremely serious and potentially fatal condition. There is evidence that environmental tobacco smoke may cause narrowing of the carotid arteries, which supply the brain with blood—a condition that causes a predisposition to strokes [52].

A full spectrum of lung diseases results from environmental tobacco smoke exposure, including lung cancer [202, 203, 204], asthma [20, 21, 209], a worsening of existing asthma [210], and a more rapid deterioration of lung function [186]. Tobacco industry workers, including those who do not smoke or have never smoked, also experience lung disorders, such as acute respiratory symptoms, occupational asthma, worsened lung function [211] and even fibrosis of the lung [212].

The notion of ventilation, (spatial) separation or air cleaning as a control measure for the health risk of environmental tobacco smoke exposure indoors is not scientifically valid, as it takes an impossible level of ventilation and air exchange (about 50,000 litres per second per occupant) to achieve the minimal threat to health due to such an indoor exposure [150].

Strong scientific arguments have warned of outdoor cigarette smoke exposure as a potential health hazard [213, 214]. This issue is further complicated by the fact that tobacco industries have experimented with and used additives in tobacco to mask the odour and appearance of cigarette smoke. There has been little or no evidence of testing for the generated level of toxicity, and no evidence of standard toxicity testing to determine the potential impact of the new additives' health hazards. Furthermore, there is the potential for actually increasing the concentration of some of the toxic or carcinogenic substances due to such cigarette design changes [215].

The tobacco industry has also gone to great lengths to battle the issue of environmental tobacco smoke exposure [216], to influence public opinion [217], and to discredit the available scientific evidence pointing to the hazards of environmental tobacco smoke exposure [218]. They have done this through scientific and public relations programmes created specifically for this purpose, but which are made to appear independent of the tobacco industry [218].

# **Smoking prevention and cessation**

The devastating effects of smoking and tobacco use, and the dangerously flawed notion or perception that tobacco use is harmful only to those who choose to use it, is clearly untrue. The benefits of stopping smoking are self-evident when faced with the range of possible harmful effects that tobacco use can inflict. The major conclusions on the health benefits of smoking cessation made in a report by the U.S. Surgeon General were as follows [219]:

- 1. Smoking cessation has major and immediate health benefits for men and women of all ages. Benefits apply to persons with and without smoking-related diseases.
- 2. Former smokers live longer than continuing smokers. For example, people who quit smoking before the age of 50 have one half the risk of dying in the next 15 years compared with continuing smokers.
- 3. Smoking cessation decreases the risk of lung cancer, other cancers, heart attacks, strokes and chronic lung disease.
- 4. Women who stop smoking before pregnancy or during the first 3 to 4 months of pregnancy reduce their risk of having a low-birth-weight baby to that of women who have never smoked.
- 5. The health benefits of smoking cessation far exceed any risks from the average 2.3 kilogram weight gain or any adverse psychological effects that may follow quitting.

The importance of prevention of initiation cannot be overemphasized given its impact on future smoking behaviour, the addictive nature of nicotine, the vulnerability of the young, and the role social norms and pressures play.

### References

- [1] *Nicotine Addiction*. 1988 Surgeon General Report: The Health Consequences of Smoking.
- [2] Cohen C, Pickworth WB, Henningfield JE. Cigarette smoking and addiction. *Clinics in Chest Medicine*, December 1991, 12(4):701–10. Review.
- [3] DiFranza JR et al. Development of symptoms of tobacco dependence in youths: 30 month follow up data from the DANDY study. *Tobacco Control*, September 2002, 11(3):228–35.
- [4] Kandel D et al. Prevalence and demographic correlates of symptoms of last year dependence on alcohol, nicotine, marijuana and cocaine in the U.S. population. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, January 1997, 10;44(1):11–29.
- [5] Henningfield JE, Miyasato K, Jasinski DR. Cigarette smokers self-administer intravenous nicotine. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior*, November 1983, 19(5):887–90.
- [6] Breslau N, Kilbey M, Andreski P. Nicotine dependence, major depression, and anxiety in young adults. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, December 1991, 48(12):1069–74.
- [7] Parrott AC. Does cigarette smoking cause stress? *The American Psychologist*, October 1999, 54(10):817–20.
- [8] Silverstein B. Cigarette smoking, nicotine addiction, and relaxation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, May 1982, 42(5):946–50.
- [9] Djordjevic MV et al. Self-regulation of smoking intensity. Smoke yields of the low-nicotine, low-'tar' cigarettes. *Carcinogenesis*, September 1995, 16(9):2015–21.
- [10] Petitti DB, Friedman GD. Evidence for compensation in smokers of low yield cigarettes. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, December 1983, 12(4):487–9.
- [11] Sutton SR et al. Adjustment of smokers to dilution of tobacco smoke by ventilated cigarette holders. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, October 1978, 24(4):395–405.
- [12] American Thoracic Society. Cigarette smoking and health. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, February 1996, 153(2):861–5.
- [13] Ruano-Ravina A, Figueiras A, Barros-Dios JM. Lung cancer and related risk factors: an update of the literature. *Public Health*, May 2003, 117(3):149–56.
- Murin S, Bilello KS, Matthay R. Other smokingaffected pulmonary diseases. *Clinics in Chest Medicine*, March 2000, 21(1):121–37,ix. Review.
- [15] Tager IB, Speizer FE. Risk estimates for chronic bronchitis in smokers: a study of male-female differences. *The American Review of Respiratory Disease*, May 1976,

- 113(5):619–25.
- [16] Kanner RE. Early intervention in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. A review of the Lung Health Study results. *The Medical Clinics of North America*, May 1996, 80(3):523–47.
- [17] Buist AS. The US Lung Health Study. *Respirology*, December 1997, 2(4):303–7.
- [18] Doll R, Peto R. Mortality in relation to smoking: 20 years' observations on male British doctors. *British Medical Journal*, December 1976, 25;2(6051):1525–36.
- [19] Xu X et al. Smoking, changes in smoking habits, and rate of decline in FEV1: new insight into gender differences. *The European Respiratory Journal*, June 1994, 7(6):1056–61.
- [20] Apostol GG et al. Early life factors contribute to the decrease in lung function between ages 18 and 40: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, July 2002, 15;166(2):166–72.
- [21] Eisner MD. Environmental tobacco smoke and adult asthma. *Clinics in Chest Medicine*, December 2002, 23(4):749–61.
- [22] Moller AM, Maaloe R, Pedersen T. Postoperative intensive care admittance: the role of tobacco smoking. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*, March 2001, 45(3):345–8.
- [23] LeSon S, Gershwin ME. Risk factors for asthmatic patients requiring intubation: A comprehensive review. *Allergologia et Immunopathologia*, September–October 1995, 23(5):235–47.
- [24] Godtfredsen NS et al. Risk of hospital admission for COPD following smoking cessation and reduction: a Danish population study. *Thorax*, November 2002, 57(11):967–72.
- [25] Kanner RE et al. Effects of randomized assignment to a smoking cessation intervention and changes in smoking habits on respiratory symptoms in smokers with early chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the Lung Health Study. *The American Journal of Medicine*, April 1999, 106(4):410–6.
- [26] Moller AM et al. A study of the impact of long-term tobacco smoking on postoperative intensive care admission. *Anaesthesia*, January 2003, 58(1):55–9.
- [27] Ryu JH et al. Smoking-related interstitial lung diseases: a concise review. *The European Respiratory Journal*, January 2001, 17(1):122–32. Review.
- [28] Britton J, Hubbard R. Recent advances in the aetiology of cryptogenic fibrosing alveolitis. *Histopathology*, November 2000, 37(5):387–92. Review.
- [29] Fraig M et al. Respiratory bronchiolitis: a clinicopathologic study in current smokers, ex-smokers, and never-smokers. *The American Journal of Surgical Pathology*, May 2002, 26(5):647–53.

- [30] McClain KL et al. Need for a cooperative study: Pulmonary Langerhans cell histiocytosis and its management in adults. *Medical and Pediatric Oncology*, July 2002, 39(1):35–9. Review.
- [31] Vassallo R et al. Clinical outcomes of pulmonary Langerhans'-cell histiocytosis in adults. The New England Journal of Medicine, February 2002, 14;346(7):484–90.
- [32] Shah MK, Hugghins SY. Characteristics and outcomes of patients with Goodpasture's syndrome. *The Southern Medical Journal*, December 2002, 95(12):1411–8. Review.
- [33] Ockene IS, Miller NH. Cigarette smoking, cardiovascular disease, and stroke. A statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 1997, 96:3243.
- [34] Njolstad I, Arnesen E, Lund-Larsen PG. Smoking, serum lipids, blood pressure, and sex differences in myocardial infarction. A 12-year follow-up of the Finnmark Study. *Circulation*, February 1996, 1;93(3):450–6.
- Prescott E et al. Smoking and risk of myocardial infarction in women and men: longitudinal population study. *British Medical Journal*, April 1998, 4;316(7137):1043–7.
- [36] Hopkins PN, Williams RR, Hunt SC. Magnified risks form cigarette smoking for coronary prone families in Utah. *The Western Journal of Medicine*, 1984, 141:196.
- [37] William RR, Hopkins PN, Wu LL et al. Evaluating family history to prevent early coronary heart disease. In: Pearson TA, Criqui MH, Luepker RV et al eds. *Primer in Preventive Cardiology*. American Heart Association. Dallas, 1994, p.93.
- [38] Ayanian JZ, Cleary PD. Perceived risks of heart disease and cancer among cigarette smokers. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, March 1999, 17;281(11):1019–21.
- [39] Wilhelmsson C et al. Smoking and myocardial infarction. *Lancet*, February 1975, 22;1(7904):415–20.
- [40] Wilson K et al. Effect of smoking cessation on mortality after myocardial infarction: meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, April 2000, 10;160(7):939–44.
- [41] He J et al. Risk factors for congestive heart failure in US men and women: NHANES I epidemiologic follow-up study. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, April 2001, 9;161(7):996–1002.
- [42] Smith GL et al. Outcomes in heart failure patients with preserved ejection fraction: mortality, readmission, and functional decline. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, May 2003, 7;41(9):1510–8.
- [43] Gustafsson F et al. DIAMOND Study Group. Long-term survival in patients hospitalized with congestive heart failure: relation to preserved and reduced left

- ventricular systolic function. European Heart Journal, May 2003, 24(9):863–70.
- 44] Spittell PC et al. Screening for abdominal aortic aneurysm during transthoracic echocardiography in a hypertensive patient population. *Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography*, September 1997, 10(7):722–7.
- [45] McGill HC Jr. Smoking and the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 1990, 273:9–16. Review.
- [46] Naydeck BL et al. Prevalence and risk factors for abdominal aortic aneurysms in older adults with and without isolated systolic hypertension. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, March 1999, 1;83(5):759–64.
- [47] Auerbach O, Garfinkel L. Atherosclerosis and aneurysm of aorta in relation to smoking habits and age. *Chest*, December 1980, 78(6):805–9.
- [48] Griepp RB et al. Natural history of descending thoracic and thoracoabdominal aneurysms. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*, June 1999, 67(6):1927–30.
- [49] Smoking, lung function and the prognosis of abdominal aortic aneurysm. The UK Small Aneurysm Trial Participants. *European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery*, June 2000, 19(6):636–42.
- [50] Bonser RS et al. Clinical and patho-anatomical factors affecting expansion of thoracic aortic aneurysms. *Heart*, September 2000, 84(3):277–83.
- [51] Griepp RB et al. Minimizing spinal cord injury during repair of descending thoracic and thoracoabdominal aneurysms: the Mount Sinai approach. *Seminars in Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery*, January 1998, 10(1):25–8.
- [52] Kiechl S et al. Active and passive smoking, chronic infections, and the risk of carotid atherosclerosis: prospective results from the Bruneck Study. *Stroke*, September 2002, 33(9):2170–6.
- [53] Crouse JR 3rd et al. Associations of extracranial carotid atherosclerosis progression with coronary status and risk factors in patients with and without coronary artery disease. *Circulation*, October 2002, 15;106(16):2061–6.
- [54] Mineva PP, Manchev IC, Hadjiev DI. Prevalence and outcome of asymptomatic carotid stenosis: a population-based ultrasonographic study. *European Journal of Neurology*, July 2002, 9(4):383–8.
- [55] Aburahma AF, Thiele SP, Wulu JT Jr. Prospective controlled study of the natural history of asymptomatic 60% to 69% carotid stenosis according to ultrasonic plaque morphology. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, September 2002, 36(3):437–42.
- [56] Tejada J et al. Does a relationship exist between carotid stenosis and lacunar infarction? *Stroke*, June 2003, 34(6):1404–9. Epub 2003, May 08.
- [57] Mansour MA et al. Outcome of moderate carotid artery stenosis in patients who are

- asymptomatic. Journal of Vascular Surgery, February 1999, 29(2):217–25.
- [58] Bravata DM et al. Long-term mortality in cerebrovascular disease. *Stroke*, March 2003, 34(3):699–704. Epub 2003, Feb 20.
- [59] Cunningham EJ et al. European Carotid Surgery Trialists' Collaborative Group. Long-term durability of carotid endarterectomy for symptomatic stenosis and risk factors for late postoperative stroke. *Stroke*, November 2002, 33(11):2658–63.
- [60] Krupski WC. The peripheral vascular consequence of smoking. Annals of vascular surgery, May 1991, 5(3):291–304. Review.
- [61] Cimminiello C. PAD. Epidemiology and pathophysiology. *Thrombosis Research*, June 2002, 1;106(6):V295–301. Review.
- [62] Schainfeld RM. Management of peripheral arterial disease and intermittent claudication. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Practice*, November–December 2001, 14(6):443–50. Review.
- [63] Borner C, Heidrich H. Long-term follow-up of thromboangiitis obliterans. *Journal for Vascular Diseases*, May 1998, 27(2):80–6. Review.
- [64] Jeffrey W, Olin DO. Thromboangiitis Obliterans (Buerger's Disease). *The New England Journal of Medicine*, September 2000; 343:864–869.
- [65] Meyer JS et al. Cardiovascular and other risk factors for Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, April 2000, 903:411–23.
- [66] Roman GC. Vascular dementia revisited: diagnosis, pathogenesis, treatment, and prevention. *The Medical Clinics of North America*, May 2002, 86(3):477–99. Review.
- [67] Richards M et al. Cigarette smoking and cognitive decline in midlife: evidence from a prospective birth cohort study. *American Journal of Public Health*, June 2003, 93(6):994–8.
- [68] Merchant C et al. The influence of smoking on the risk of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, April 1999, 22;52(7):1408–12.
- [69] Truumees E. Medical consequences of osteoporotic vertebral compression fractures. *Instructional Course Lectures*, 2003, 52:551–8. Review.
- [70] Harvey EJ et al. Deleterious effect of smoking on healing of open tibia-shaft fractures. The *American Journal of Orthopedics*, September 2002, 31(9):518–21.
- [71] Compston J. Secondary causes of osteoporosis in men. *Calcified Tissue International*, October 2001, 69(4):193–5. Review.
- [72] Daniell HW. Osteoporosis and smoking. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, July 1972, 31;221(5):509.

- [73] Boling EP. Gender and osteoporosis: similarities and sex-specific differences. *The Journal of Gender-Specific Medicine*, 2001, 4(2):36–43. Review.
- [74] Kanis JA, Pitt FA. Epidemiology of osteoporosis. *Bone*, 1992, 13(Suppl 1):S7–15.
- [75] Johansson C, Mellstrom D. An earlier fracture as a risk factor for new fracture and its association with smoking and menopausal age in women. *Maturitas*, May 1996, 24(1–2):97–106.
- [76] Spangler JG, Quandt S, Bell RA. Smokeless tobacco and osteoporosis: a new relationship? *Medical Hypotheses*, May 2001, 56(5):553–7. Review.
- [77] South-Paul JE. Osteoporosis: part II. Nonpharmacologic and pharmacologic treatment. *American Family Physician*, March 2001, 15;63(6):1121–8. Review.
- [78] Bellantoni MF. Osteoporosis prevention and treatment. *American Family Physician*, September 1996, 1;54(3):986–92, 995–6. Review.
- [79] Hadley MN, Reddy SV. Smoking and the human vertebral column: a review of the impact of cigarette use on vertebral bone metabolism and spinal fusion. *Neurosurgery*, July 1997, 41(1):116–24. Review.
- [80] Haverstock BD, Mandracchia VJ. Cigarette smoking and bone healing: implications infoot and ankle surgery. *The Journal of Foot and Ankle Surgery*, January–February 1998, 37(1):69–74; discussion 78. Review.
- [81] Weisberg E. Smoking and reproductive health. *Clinical Reproduction and Fertility*, September 1985, 3(3):175–86. Review.
- [82] Zavos PM et al. Effects of seminal plasma from cigarette smokers on sperm viability and longevity. *Fertility and Sterility*, 69(1998), pp. 425–429.
- [83] Hull MG et al. Delayed conception and active and passive smoking. The Avon Longitudinal Study of Pregnancy and Childhood Study Team. *Fertility and Sterility*, October 2000, 74(4):725–33.
- [84] Martin-Morales A et al. Prevalence and independent risk factors for erectile dysfunction in Spain: results of the Epidemiologia de la Disfuncion Erectil Masculina Study. *The Journal of Urology*, August 2001, 166(2):569–74;
- [85] Tengs TO, Osgood ND. The link between smoking and impotence: two decades of evidence. *Preventive Medicine*, June 2001, 32(6):447–52. Review.
- [86] Dorey G. Is smoking a cause of erectile dysfunction? A literature review. *British Journal of Nursing*, April 2001, 12–25;10(7):455–65. Review.
- [87] Condra M et al. Prevalence and significance of tobacco smoking in impotence. *Urology*, June 1986, 27(6):495–8.

- [88] Rosenstock S et al. Risk factors for peptic ulcer disease: a population based prospective cohort study comprising 2416 Danish adults. *Gut*, February 2003, 52(2):186–93.
- [89] Korman MG et al. Influence of cigarette smoking on healing and relapse in duodenal ulcer disease. *Gastroenterology*, October 1983, 85(4):871–4.
- [90] Smit CF et al. Effect of cigarette smoking on gastropharyngeal and gastroesophageal reflux. *The Annals of Otology, Rhinology, and Laryngology*, February 2001, 110(2):190–3.
- [91] Pandolfino JE, Kahrilas PJ. Smoking and gastro-oesophageal reflux disease. *European Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, August 2000, 12(8):837–42. Review.
- [92] El-Serag HB et al. Gastroesophageal reflux disease is a risk factor for laryngeal and pharyngeal cancer. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology*, July 2001, 96(7):2013–8.
- [93] Parkin DM, Pisani P, Ferlay J. Estimates of the worldwide incidence of eighteen major cancers in 1985. *International Journal of Cancer*, June 1993, 19;54(4):594–606.
- [94] Risch HA et al. Are female smokers at higher risk for lung cancer than male smokers? A case–control analysis by histologic type. American Journal of Epidemiology, September 1993, 1:138(5):281–93.
- [95] Harris RE et al. Race and sex differences in lung cancer risk associated with cigarette smoking. International Journal of Epidemiology, August 1993, 22(4):592–9.
- [96] Thun MJ, Henley SJ, Calle EE. Tobacco use and cancer: an epidemiologic perspective for geneticists. *Oncogene*, October 2002, 21;21(48):7307–25.
- [97] Kuper H, Boffetta P, Adami HO. Tobacco use and cancer causation: association by tumour type. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, September 2002, 252(3):206–24. Review.
- [98] Johnson N. Tobacco use and oral cancer: a global perspective. *Journal of Dental Education*, April 2001, 65(4):328–39. Review.
- [99] De Hertog SA et al. Leiden Skin Cancer Study. Relation between smoking and skin cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, January 2001, 1;19(1):231–8.
- [100] Terry PD et al. Cigarette smoking and the risk of invasive epithelial ovarian cancer in a prospective cohort study. *European Journal of Cancer*, May 2003, 39(8):1157–64.
- [101] Waggoner SE. Cervical cancer. Lancet, June 2003, 28;361(9376);2217–25.
- [102] Kropp S, Chang-Claude J. Active and passive smoking and risk of breast cancer by age 50 years among German women. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, October 2002, 1;156(7):616–26.
- [103] A report of the U.S. Surgeon General 2001. Health Consequence of Tobacco Use

- Among Women Fact Sheet.
- [104] Murin S, Inciardi J. Cigarette smoking and the risk of pulmonary metastasis from breast cancer. *Chest*, June 2001, 119(6):1635–40.
- [105] Mansour OI, Snyderman CH, D'Amico F. Association between tobacco use and metastatic neck disease. *The Laryngoscope*, January 2003, 113(1):161–6.
- [106] Chakrabarti RN et al. Smokeless tobacco and premalignant and malignant lesions of the oral cavity. *Indian Journal of Medical Sciences*, October 1991, 45(10):273–5.
- [107] Mirbod SM, Ahing SI. Tobacco-associated lesions of the oral cavity: Part I. Nonmalignant lesions. *Journal of the Canadian Dental Association*, May 2000, 66(5):252–6. Review.
- [108] Reibel J. Tobacco and oral diseases. Update on the evidence, with recommendations. *Medical Principles and Practice*, 2003, 12(Suppl 1):22–32. Review.
- [109] Qandil R, Sandhu HS, Matthews DC. Tobacco smoking and periodontal diseases. *Journal of the Canadian Dental Association*, March 1997, 63(3):187–92, 194–5. Review.
- [110] Ernster VL et al. Facial wrinkling in men and women, by smoking status. *American Journal of Public Health*, January 1995, 85(1):78–82.
- [111] Kadunce DP et al. Cigarette smoking: risk factor for premature facial wrinkling. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, May 1991, 15;114(10):840–4.
- [112] Yin L, Morita A, Tsuji T. Skin premature aging induced by tobacco smoking: the objective evidence of skin replica analysis. *Journal of Dermatological Science*, August 2001, 27(Suppl 1):S26–31.
- [113] Mosley JG, Gibbs AC. Premature grey hair and hair loss among smokers: a new opportunity for health education? *British Medical Journal*, December 1996, 21–28;313(7072):1616.
- [114] Trueb RM. Association between smoking and hair loss: another opportunity for health education against smoking? *Dermatology*, 2003, 206(3):189–91.
- [115] Schafer T et al. Epidemiology of acne in the general population: the risk of smoking. *The British Journal of Dermatology*, July 2001, 145(1):100–4.
- [116] Naldi L, Peli L, Parazzini F. Association of early-stage psoriasis with smoking and male alcohol consumption: evidence from an Italian case–control study. *Archives of Dermatology*, December 1999, 135(12):1479–84.
- [117] Onder M, Oztas M, Arnavut O. Nargile (Hubble-Bubble) smoking-induced hand eczema. *International Journal of Dermatology*, November 2002, 41(11):771–2.
- [118] O'Doherty CJ, MacIntyre C. Palmoplantar pustulosis and smoking. British Medical

- Journal (clinical research ed), September 1985, 28;291(6499):861–4.
- [119] Kubeyinje EP, Belagavi CS. Risk factors for palmo-plantar pustulosis in a developing country. *East African Medical Journal*, January 1997, 74(1):54–5.
- [120] Eriksson Mo et al. Palmoplantar pustulosis: a clinical and immunohistological study. *The British Journal of Dermatology*, March 1998, 138(3):390–8.
- [121] Kinsella JB et al. Smoking increases facial skin flap complications. *The Annals of Otology, Rhinology, and Laryngology*, February 1999, 108(2):139–42.
- [122] Wilson GA, Field AP, Wilson N. Smoke gets in your eyes: smoking and visual impairment in New Zealand. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, October 2001, 26;114(1142):471–4.
- [123] Cheng AC et al. The association between cigarette smoking and ocular diseases. *Hong Kong Medical Journal*, June 2000, 6(2):195–202. Review.
- [124] Vestergaard P et al. Smoking as a risk factor for Graves' disease, toxic nodular goiter, and autoimmune hypothyroidism. *Thyroid*, January 2002, 12(1):69–75.
- [126] Smith W et al. Risk factors for age-related macular degeneration: Pooled findings from three continents. *Ophthalmology*, April 2001, 108(4):697–704.
- [127] Hyman L, Neborsky R. Risk factors for age-related macular degeneration: an update. *Current Opinion in Ophthalmology*, June 2002, 13(3):171–5. Review.
- [128] Noorhassim I, Rampal KG. Multiplicative effect of smoking and age on hearing impairment. *American journal of otolaryngology*, July–August 1998, 19(4):240–3.
- [129] Cruickshanks KJ et al. Cigarette smoking and hearing loss: the epidemiology of hearing loss study. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, June 1998, 3;279(21):1715–9.
- [130] Barone JA et al. Smoking as a risk factor in noise-induced hearing loss. *Journal of Occupational Medicine*, September 1987, 29(9):741–5.
- [131] Frye RE, Schwartz BS, Doty RL. Dose-related effects of cigarette smoking on olfactory function. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, March 1990, 2;263(9):1233–6.
- [132] Manassa EH, Hertl CH, Olbrisch RR. Wound healing problems in smokers and nonsmokers after 132 abdominoplasties. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, May 2003, 111(6):2082–7.
- [133] Hensel JM et al. An outcomes analysis and satisfaction survey of 199 consecutive abdominoplasties. *Annals of Plastic Surgery*, April 2001, 46(4):357–63.
- [134] Sorensen LT, Karlsmark T, Gottrup F. Abstinence from smoking reduces incisional wound infection: a randomized controlled trial. *Annals of Surgery*, July 2003,

- 238(1):1-5.
- [135] Delgado-Rodriguez M et al. A prospective study of tobacco smoking as a predictor of complications in general surgery. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, January 2003, 24(1):37–43.
- [136] Eliasson B. Cigarette smoking and diabetes. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, March–April 2003, 45(5):405–13. Review.
- [137] Nilsson P, Gudbjornsdottir S, Cederholm J. Diabetes and tobacco—a double health hazard. *Lakartidningen*, May 2002, 16;99(20):2281–2, 2285.
- [138] Leggetter S et al. Ethnicity and risk of diabetes-related lower extremity amputation: a population-based, case-control study of African Caribbeans and Europeans in the United kingdom. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, January 2002, 14;162(1):73–8.
- [139] Maurya V, Vijayan VK, Shah A. Smoking and tuberculosis: an association overlooked. *The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, November 2002, 6(11):942–51. Review.
- [140] Kolappan C, Gopi PG. Tobacco smoking and pulmonary tuberculosis. *Thorax*, November 2002, 57(11):964–6.
- [141] Albano SA, Santana-Sahagun E, Weisman MH. Cigarette smoking and rheumatoid arthritis. *Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism*, December 2001, 31(3):146–59.
- [142] Krishnan E, Sokka T, Hannonen P. Smoking–gender interaction and risk for rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis research and therapy*, 2003, 5(3):R158–62.
- [143] Vestergaard P. Smoking and thyroid disorders a meta-analysis. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, February 2002, 146(2):153–61.
- [144] Ghaussy NO, Sibbitt WL Jr, Qualls CR. Cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, and the risk of systemic lupus erythematosus: a case-control study. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, November 2001, 28(11):2449–53.
- [145] Hansson PO et al. Smoking and abdominal obesity: risk factors for venous thromboembolism among middle-aged men: "the study of men born in 1913". *Archives of Internal Medicine*, September 1999, 13;159(16):1886–90.
- [146] Goldhaber SZ et al. A prospective study of risk factors for pulmonary embolism in women. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, February 1997, 26;277(8):642–5.
- [147] Liu P et al. Predictors of long-term clinical outcome of patients with acute massive pulmonary embolism after thrombolytic therapy. *The Chinese Medical Journal*, April 2003, 116(4):503–9.
- [148] Phillips BA, Danner FJ. Cigarette smoking and sleep disturbance. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, April 1995, 10;155(7):734–7.

- [149] Wetter DW, Young TB. The relation between cigarette smoking and sleep disturbance. *Preventive Medicine*, May 1994, 23(3):328–34.
- [150] Repace J, Kawachi I, Glantz S. Fact sheet on secondhand smoke. 1999.
- [151] Stillman RJ, Rosenberg MJ, Sachs BP. Smoking and reproduction. *Fertility and Sterility*, October 1986, 46(4):545–66. Review.
- [152] Fielding JE. Smoking and women: tragedy of the majority. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, November 1987, 19;317(21):1343–5.
- [153] Mongelli M, Gardosi J. Fetal growth. *Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, April 2000, 12(2):111–5. Review.
- [154] Connell EB. Oral contraceptives. The current risk-benefit ratio. *The Journal of Reproductive Medicine*, July 1984, 29(Suppl 7):513–23.
- [155] Chasan-Taber L, Stampfer MJ. Epidemiology of oral contraceptives and cardiovascular disease. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, March 1998, 15;128(6):467–77. Review.
- [156] Burkman RT. Cardiovascular issues with oral contraceptives: evidenced-based medicine. *International Journal of Fertility and Women's Medicine*, March–April 2000, 45(2):166–74. Review.
- [157] Rosenberg L et al. Low-dose oral contraceptive use and the risk of myocardial infarction. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, April 2001, 23;161(8):1065–70.
- [158] Kokkinos J, Levine SR. Stroke. *Neurologic Clinics*, August 1993, 11(3):577–90. Review.
- [159] Currie JN, Billings JJ. Strokes and contraceptive medication. *The Medical Journal of Australia*, January 1980, 26;1(2):58.
- [160] Barton M, Dubey RK, Traupe T. Oral contraceptives and the risk of thrombosis and atherosclerosis. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*, March 2002, 11(3):329–32.
- [161] Lambers DS, Clark KE. The maternal and fetal physiologic effects of nicotine. Seminars in Perinatology, April 1996, 20(2):115–26. Review.
- [162] Andres RL, Day MC. Perinatal complications associated with maternal tobacco use. *Seminars in Neonatology*, August 2000, 5(3):231–41. Review.
- [163] Dejmek J et al. The exposure of nonsmoking and smoking mothers to environmental tobacco smoke during different gestational phases and fetal growth. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, June 2002, 110(6):601–6.
- [164] England LJ et al. Measures of maternal tobacco exposure and infant birth weight at term. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, May 2001, 15;153(10):954–60.

- [165] Mitchell EA et al. Smoking, nicotine and tar and risk of small for gestational age babies. *Acta Paediatrica*, 2002, 91(3):323–8.
- [166] Mongelli M, Gardosi J. Fetal growth. *Current Opinions in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, April 2000, 12(2):111–5. Review.
- [167] Koren G. Nicotine replacement therapy during pregnancy. *Canadian Family Physician*, October 2001, 47:1971–2.
- [168] Dempsey D, Jacob P 3<sup>rd</sup>, Benowitz NL. Accelerated metabolism of nicotine and cotinine in pregnant smokers. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, May 2002, 301(2):594–8.
- [169] American Heart Association. Active and passive tobacco exposure: a serious pedriatric heart problem. A statement from the Committee on Atherosclerosis and Hypertension in Children, Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young. *Circulation*, November 1994, 90(5):2581–90.
- [170] Ortega RM et al. Influence of smoking on vitamin E status during the third trimester of pregnancy and on breast-milk tocopherol concentrations in Spanish women. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, September 1998, 68(3):662–7.
- [171] Ortega RM et al. The influence of smoking on vitamin C status during the third trimester of pregnancy and on vitamin C levels in maternal milk. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, August 1998, 17(4):379–84.
- [172] Schwartz-Bickenbach D et al. Smoking and passive smoking during pregnancy and early infancy: effects on birth weight, lactation period, and cotinine concentrations in mother's milk and infant's urine. *Toxicology Letters*, January 1987, 35(1):73–81.
- [173] Amir LH, Donath SM. Does maternal smoking have a negative physiological effect on breastfeeding? The epidemiological evidence. *Birth*, June 2002, 29(2):112–23. Review.
- [174] Chung KC et al. Maternal cigarette smoking during pregnancy and the risk of having a child with cleft lip/palate. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, February 2000, 105(2):485–91. Review.
- [175] Shepard TH et al. Update on new developments in the study of human teratogens. *Teratology*, April 2002, 65(4):153–61. Review.
- [176] Kallen K. Maternal smoking during pregnancy and limb reduction malformations in Sweden. *American Journal of Public Health*, January 1997, 87(1):29–32.
- [177] Czeizel AE, Kodaj I, Lenz W. Smoking during pregnancy and congenital limb deficiency. *British Medical Journal*, June 1994, 4;308(6942):1473–6.
- [178] Lodrup Carlsen KC, Carlsen KH. Effects of maternal and early tobacco exposure on the development of asthma and airway hyperreactivity. *Current Opinion in Allergy*

- and Clinical Immunology, April 2001, 1(2):139–43. Review.
- [179] Floreani AA, Rennard SI. The role of cigarette smoke in the pathogenesis of asthma and as a trigger for acute symptoms. *Current Opinion in Pulmonary Medicine*, January 1999, 5(1):38–46. Review.
- [180] Schafer T et al. Maternal smoking during pregnancy and lactation increases the risk for atopic eczema in the offspring. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, April 1997, 36(4):550–6.
- [181] Frydman M. The smoking addiction of pregnant women and the consequences on their offspring's intellectual development. *Journal of Environmental Pathology, Toxicology and Oncology*, 1996;15(2–4):169–72. Review.
- [182] Weitzman M et al. The effects of tobacco exposure on children's behavioural and cognitive functioning: implications for clinical and public health policy and future research. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, May–June 2002, 24(3):397–406. Review.
- [183] Dybing E, Sanner T. Passive smoking, sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) and childhood infections. *Human and Experimental Toxicology*, April 1999, 18(4):202–5.
- [184] Jinot J, Bayard S. Respiratory health effects of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke. *Reviews on Environmental Health*, July–September 1996, 11(3):89–100. Review.
- [185] Environmental tobacco smoke. Health effects and prevention policies. Council on Scientific Affairs, American Medical Association. *Archives of Family Medicine*, October 1994, 3(10):865–71.
- [186] Stankus Rp et al. Cigarette smoke-sensitive asthma: challenge studies. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, September 1988, 82(3 Pt 1):331–8.
- [187] Chan-Yeung M, Dimich-Ward H. Respiratory health effects of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke. *Respirology*, June 2003, 8(2):131–9.
- [188] Jaakkola JJ, Jaakkola MS. Effects of environmental tobacco smoke on the respiratory health of children. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health*, 2002, 28 (Suppl 2):71–83.
- [189] Patel DR, Homnick DN. Pulmonary effects of smoking. *Adolescent Medicine*, October 2000, 11(3):567–76.
- [190] Weitzman M et al. The effects of tobacco exposure on children's behavioral and cognitive functioning: implications for clinical and public health policy and future research. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, May–June 2002, 24(3):397–406. Review.
- [191] Schwartz-Bickenbach D et al. Smoking and passive smoking during pregnancy and early infancy: effects on birth weight, lactation period, and cotinine concentrations in mother's milk and infant's urine. *Toxicology Letters*, January 1987, 35(1):73–81.

- [192] Tredaniel J et al. Exposure to passive smoking during pregnancy and childhood, and cancer risk: the epidemiological evidence. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, July 1994, 8(3):233–55. Review.
- [193] Benninger MS. The impact of cigarette smoking and environmental tobacco smoke on nasal and sinus disease: a review of the literature. *American Journal of Rhinology*, November–December 1999, 13(6):435–8.
- [194] Jackson C, Henriksen L. Do as I say: parent smoking, antismoking socialization, and smoking onset among children. *Addictive Behaviors*, January–February 1997, 22(1):107–14.
- [195] Oei TP, Egan AM, Silva PA. Factors associated with the initiation of "smoking" in nine year old children. *Advances in Alcohol and Substance Abuse*, Spring 1986, 5(3):79–89.
- [196] Lando HA et al. Age of initiation, smoking patterns, and risk in a population of working adults. *Preventive Medicine*, December 1999, 29(6Pt 1):590–8.
- [197] Efroymson D et al. Hungry for tobacco: an analysis of the economic impact of tobacco consumption on the poor in Bangladesh. Tobacco Control, September 2001, 10(3):212–7. Review.
- [198] McIntyre L, Connor SK, Warren J. Child hunger in Canada: results of the 1994 National Longitudinal Survey of Children and Youth. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 2000, 163(8):961–5.
- [199] Lofroth G. Environmental tobacco smoke: overview of chemical composition and genotoxic components. *Mutation Research*, February 1989, 222(2):73–80. Review.
- [200] Bartal M. Health effects of tobacco use and exposure. *Monaldi Archives for Chest Disease*, December 2001, 56(6):545–54.
- [201] Nurminen MM, Jaakkola MS. Mortality from occupational exposure to environmental tobacco smoke in Finland. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, August 2001, 43(8):687–93.
- [202] Janerich DT et al. Lung cancer and exposure to tobacco smoke in the household. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, September 1990, 6;323(10):632–6.
- [203] Zaman MB et al. The New England Journal of Medicine, September 1990, 6;323(10):632–6.
- [204] Fontham ET et al. Environmental tobacco smoke and lung cancer in nonsmoking women. A multicenter study. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, June 1994, 8;271(22):1752–9.
- [205] Hackshaw AK, Law MR, Wald NJ. The accumulated evidence on lung cancer and environmental tobacco smoke. *British Medical Journal*, October 1997, 18;315(7114):980–8.

- [206] Steenland K et al. Environmental tobacco smoke and coronary heart disease in the American Cancer Society CPS-II cohort. *Circulation*, August 1996, 15;94(4):622–8.
- [207] Glantz SA, Parmley WW. Passive smoking and heart disease. Mechanisms and risk. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, April 1995, 5;273(13):1047–53.
- [208] Wells AJ. Passive smoking as a cause of heart disease. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, August 1994, 24(2):546–54.
- [209] Eisner MD et al. Exposure to indoor combustion and adult asthma outcomes: environmental tobacco smoke, gas stoves, and woodsmoke. *Thorax*, November 2002, 57(11):973–8.
- [210] Berglund DJ et al. Respiratory symptoms and pulmonary function in an elderly nonsmoking population. *Chest*, January 1999, 115(1):49–59.
- [211] Jadranka M et al. OCCUPATIONAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL LUNG DISEASE: Respiratory Findings in Tobacco Workers. *Chest*, May 2003, 123:1740–1748.
- [212] Lorenzo, R. Diffuse interstitial pulmonary fibrosis in tobacco-industry workers. *Archivio Monaldi per le Malattie del Torace*, 1988, 43:235–241.
- [213] Repace J. Banning outdoor smoking is scientifically justifiable. *Tobacco Control*, March 2000, 9(1):98.
- [214] Bloch M, Shopland DR. Outdoor smoking bans: more than meets the eye. *Tobacco Control*, March 2000, 9(1):99.
- [215] Connolly GN et al. How cigarette additives are used to mask environmental tobacco smoke. *Tobacco Control*, September 2000, 9(3):283–91.
- [216] Muggli ME et al. The smoke you don't see: uncovering tobacco industry scientific strategies aimed against environmental tobacco smoke policies. *American Journal of Public Health*, September 2001, 91(9):1419–23. Review.
- [217] Muggli ME, Hurt RD, Blanke DD. Science for hire: a tobacco industry strategy to influence public opinion on secondhand smoke. *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, June 2003, 5(3):303–14. Review.
- [218] Ong EK, Glantz SA. Constructing "sound science" and "good epidemiology": tobacco, lawyers, and public relations firms. *American Journal of Public Health*, November 2001, 91(11):1749–57. Review.
- [219] Department of Health and Human Services. Health benefits of smoking cessation. A report of the Surgeon General, Washington, DC. DHHS Publication No. (CDC) 90–8416 1990.